

Procurement Services Policies & Procedures

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	F
INTRODUCTION	
PURPOSE	
SCOPE	
POLICY	
NEW JERSEY EXECUTIVE ORDER #134	
BUSINESS REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE	
E-PROCUREMENT	
COMMITMENT CONTROL	
PURCHASE REQUISTIONS	
GENERAL INFORMATION	
PURCHASING METHODS	
1. PURCHASE ORDERS	
2. TYPES OF PURCHASE ORDERS	
3. E-COMMERCE	
4. CONTRACT AND DIRECT VENDORS	
5. PURCHASING CARDS	
6. MISCELLANEOUS REIMBURSEMENTS	
7. TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENTS	
8. SPECIAL HANDLING REQUISITIONS	
PURCHASE ORDER CANCELLATION AND CHANGE ORDER REQUESTS	••••
PRE-PAYMENTS	
MERCHANDISE RETURNS AND REPAIRS	
UNAUTHORIZED PURCHASES	••••
COPIERS (MULTI-FUNCTION DEVICES)	
ITEMS ORDERED ON A "PREVIEW" OR "TRIAL BASIS"	
BID PROCEDURES	
1. PURCHASES OVER \$30,700 (EFFECTIVE JULY 1, 2009)	
2. PROCEDURES FOR PUBLICLY ADVERTISED BIDS	••••
SIGNATURE AUTHORITY	
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTORS	
PROFESSIONAL & CONSULTING SERVICES	••••
SUPPLIER DIVERSITY	
ETHICAL CONDUCT	
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE	
PURCHASING GLOSSARY OF TERMS	
EXHIBIT A (INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR)	
EXHIBIT B (INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR CONTRACT)	
EXHIBIT C (GOURMET DINING FOOD SERVICE PROCESS)	
EXHIBIT E (BARNES & NOBLE BOOKSTORE PROCESS)	
FXHIRIT F (RARNES & NORI E RUDGET CHARGE FORM)	

Introduction

New Jersey City University's ("NJCU") Procurement Services Department, (Purchasing & Accounts Payable), is charged with the responsibility of ordering all supplies, equipment and services necessary for the operation of NJCU. The process starts with the user department and ends with accounts payable. Procurement Services is responsible for monitoring all purchases for compliance with applicable regulations and for paying NJCU's bills.

The Procurement Services Department is committed to meeting the needs of NJCU and its departments and to ensure that state laws and University regulations are followed. Laws regarding the use of public funds are very specific, so it is important that University procedures be carefully followed. All expenditures must be prudent and directly benefit NJCU. NJCU will assume no liability for the payment of purchases that were not made through the approved Procurement Services purchasing procedures.

This policy is intended to be the official method to assist all University employees in understanding NJCU's procurement process. It has also been developed in accordance with New Jersey State statutes and University polices. As a public institution, we are required to follow these regulations in the conduct of our day-to-day business.

Purpose

To establish NJCU's policies regarding the procurement and payment for goods and services.

Scope

This policy applies to all faculty and staff and uniformly to all funds administered by NJCU such as departmental budgets, capital funds and restricted accounts including federal, state, and local grants, contracts and specially funded programs.

Policy

The Procurement Services Department is responsible for making the final determination of source and supply of goods and services. These decisions will be made in conjunction with the department's user, as appropriate. The Procurement Services Department serves as the exclusive channel through which all bids and quotations are handled. University departments may correspond with suppliers in cases where informal prices are needed or where technical details are necessary. In such cases, proper communication and coordination with the Procurement Services Department is required prior to committing to such purchases.

NJCU's procurement policy is intended to be consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principals (GAAP), which provides guidelines for the timing and reporting of transactions at the time it occurs. The Purchasing Department is also obligated to follow the guidelines of the laws of the State of New Jersey relating to Executive Order #134, the Procurement Reform Restrictions on Political Contributions and the Business Registration Certificate for all vendors.

NJCU's Accounts Payable Department is responsible for processing all non-payroll payments including purchase order invoices, special handling requests and employee travel reimbursements in a timely and efficient manner while maintaining NJCU's policies and procedures.

It is NJCU departments' responsibility to ensure that each transaction is classified as an allowable expenditure on a specific account and that funds are available accordingly.

New Jersey Executive Order #134

Executive Order #134 imposes restrictions on State departments, agencies and authorities to insulate the negotiation and award of State contracts from political contributions that pose the risk of improper influence, purchase of access or the appearance thereof. State departments, agencies and authorities are prohibited from entering into a contract that exceeds \$17,500 with an individual or entity that has made a political contribution to a candidate committee and/or election fund of any candidate or holder of the public office of Governor, or to any State or County political party committee. Executive Order #134 certification and disclosure forms are required to be submitted by a vendor as part of the procedure for publicly advertised bids.

Business Registration Certificate

All New Jersey and out of State business organizations that conduct business with NJCU are required to be registered with the State and provide proof of that registration before entering into a contract with NJCU. The purpose of contractor registration is to ensure that all businesses and their subsidiaries receiving government contracts pay appropriate sales and use, and other taxes. While sales and use taxes are not paid on government contracts, the requirement to register to obtain government contracts obligates them to comply with the law on non-government contracts. Businesses, particularly out-of-state businesses, competing with New Jersey based businesses often do not pay the required taxes. Thus, unregistered businesses take unfair advantage of New Jersey businesses and deprive the State of its rightfully due taxes. Business Registration Certificates are required to be submitted by a vendor as part of the procedure for publicly advertised bids. Failure to submit such valid business registration certificate with a bid will render the bid materially non-responsive. The Purchasing Department will update NJCU community periodically as changes in the New Jersey law are enacted.

For further information on Business Registration Certificate visit the website: http://www.state.nj.us/treasury/revenue/busregcert.htm.

E-Procurement

NJCU's Purchasing and Accounts Payable Departments have implemented the PeopleSoft E-Procurement module. Departmental requesters will use the online requisition functionality in the PeopleSoft E-Procurement module to initiate a request for purchase. The identification of where the expense should be charged will be done on the requisition and will carry forward automatically through the Purchase Order (PO) then to the Voucher (vendor payment). Online workflow approval and receiving processes replace the manual signature approval.

There are five levels of approval depending on the criteria:

- 1. **Department Approval** This is the minimum approval required for all requisitions.
- 2. **Project Approval** This approval is required if the requisition is contains a project or grant number.
- **3.** Category Approval This approval is required if the requisition contains items belonging to equipment, chemicals, and/or facilities categories.
- **4. Manager Approval** This approval is required prior to Vice President approval if the requisition amount is greater than \$500 or \$999 (Depending on managers' preference).
- **5. Vice President** This approval is required if the requisition amount is greater than \$1,000.

The requisition does not get routed to the next approval level until its predecessor is approved. Once the requisition is fully approved, it will be routed to Purchasing to generate a purchase order, which is the official authorization to purchase goods or services. The requestor/user is responsible for monitoring their requisitions and knowing when a purchase order has been generated and purchase authorized.

Vendors are required to send invoices directly to the Accounts Payable department for processing. Authorization to pay is confirmed via online receiving and acceptance of the goods or services by the departments. Accounts Payable will enter the invoices from the vendors, as vouchers, into the PeopleSoft payables system in the order they are received. PeopleSoft will match vouchers to the purchase order and receipts. Any exceptions to the matching process (quantity or price variances) over predefined tolerances are routed to purchasing or the departments for resolution. Once the vouchers are successfully matched, the PeopleSoft system will generate payments when due based on payment terms and invoice dates. The user/requestor is responsible for monitoring the life cycle of their requisitions. For further information please see the EPRO Training Manual at http://www.njcu.edu/dept/controller/index.html#purchasing.

Commitment Control

Commitment Control is a delivered system functionality that allows for budgeting controls. It is a module within the PeopleSoft Financial System which can track and potentially control expenditures and purchasing. The purpose of this is to prevent overspending of a set budget for non-salary operating expenses. If an amount is requisitioned which causes the non-salary budget portion of the budget of the department budget to be exceeded, a budget error message will be generated if the department cannot resolve the issue, contact the Budget Office for assistance and to determine the cause of the over-expenditure. If there are insufficient funds in the account, the department head must consult with the Dean/Vice President to determine if additional funds are available.

Purchase Requisitions

All requisitions are initiated by authorized personnel from departments requiring goods and/or services. In most cases goods are tangible items (eg. shirts, equipment, books, etc) that can be received on line individually and are entered by quantity. Services are non-tangible items and are usually received by amount only. (eg. consulting, repairs, etc.)

General Information

- 1. An internal requisition via E-Procurement or manual requisition is considered an "in-house" document only. Requisitions should not be faxed, mailed or given out to vendors.
- 2. University departments that make purchases without the Purchasing Department issuing a Purchase Order are committing to a personal financial obligation to the vendor for which he/she may be held responsible.
- **3.** Some items requisitioned may be on State contract or may need to go out to bid (See page 8 on Bid Procedures).
- **4.** All requests for supplies, equipment and services may be combined for "group" buying if other departments have requested the same class of items or commodities. On occasion this can also result in a bid process from the Purchasing Department before a Purchase Order can be assigned and issued.
- 5. All requisitions over \$30,700 will require the competitive, publicly advertised bid process unless on a State contract. Purchasing will make the determination and manage the bid process. Contact the Purchasing Department before submitting an on-line requisition if this applies (See page 8 on Bid Procedures).
- **6.** Confirming or "after the fact" requisitions are not allowed. Any employee that orders and/or purchases goods or services without obtaining proper authority and approval signatures prior to the purchase (an internal purchase requisition is completed and the purchase order issued), may be accountable for the cost of the goods/services.

Purchasing Methods Purchase Order

A purchase order is defined as a contract between NJCU and a vendor for goods and/or services. The primary purchasing tool is the PeopleSoft Financials system which utilizes the use of E-Procurement with on-line requisitions. Using a purchase order to initiate every purchase provides the means to insure that each transaction is covered by a proper contract and that the funds are encumbered. A contract details commodities, prices, and terms and conditions specifying each party's rights and obligations. Generally, a contract's terms and conditions specifying each party's rights and responsibilities are questioned only when a dispute arises. However, as the dollar amount of a transaction rises or the level of risk in the activity (such as potential for injury) increases, so does the likelihood for major disputes and, therefore, the need for written contracts.

The dollar amount and the type of purchase and/or commodity being acquired is the basis for determining the correct purchasing procedure. These procedures, using sound business practices, provide the basis for prudent purchasing at any dollar value.

A purchase order must be issued at the time NJCU incurs a liability for any type of good or service.

Types of Purchase Orders

- 1. Purchase Order A purchase order is created from information contained in the approved on-line requisition. The purchase order is used by the vendor for authorization, to identify the purchase and is listed on shipping documents and invoices. In case of an emergency, please contact the Purchasing Department at 201-200-3159 to determine the best possible method of procuring goods and/or services.
- 2. Blanket Purchase Orders When departments are faced with numerous repetitive orders for miscellaneous requirements to a single vendor, or when departments have a requirement for a known quantity of an item or items to be delivered over a period of time, a Blanket Purchase Order may be issued. This type of purchase order is used for small commodity-type purchases or services that are recurring. It does not require a specific listing of material desired, but instead stipulates a maximum amount of money for purchases of specified groups of supplies or services or maximum amount per invoice. Equipment purchases are not allowed and blanket orders cannot be used for items requiring quotes or bids. A blanket purchase order must be requested on line and a purchase order issued before any purchase can be made. The total cumulative purchase cannot exceed the blanket purchase order amount or it will not be paid. If a blanket purchase order needs to be increased, a new requisition specifying the original purchase order must be submitted through the approval process. Blanket purchase orders are based on the current fiscal year and will be closed at the end of each fiscal year.

E-Commerce

Business-to-Business (B2B) relationships have been, and are continuing to be established with select high-volume vendors in an effort to facilitate the ordering, invoicing and payment processes for the departmental user, the vendor and NJCU. Currently NJCU's main (B2B) vendor is OfficeMax for office supplies. In the up coming year, other (B2B) vendors will be added.

Contract and Direct Vendors

Direct Contracts have been established with GOURMET DINING for food services and BARNES & NOBLE for the bookstore. You may request goods and services directly with these vendors. A process has been implemented with these particular vendors whereby authorized personnel can request and sign a work order form for goods or services from either vendor which streamline the normal E-Procurement

process. Upon approval of purchases, GOURMET DINING and BARNES & NOBLE will submit their billings to accounts payable on a monthly basis for payment. See Exhibit C

Magazine subscriptions are currently available through EBSCO Subscription Services and are renewed on an annual basis. Please notify the purchasing department of any changes or additions. Do not submit subscription renewal and payments directly to the vendor unless otherwise notified by purchasing.

Purchasing Cards

Departmental credit cards are to be used to purchase goods/services with a dollar value under \$500 and in instances where either the transaction is for a one-time/exceptional purchase, the vendor does not accept purchase orders, or credit cards are the industry standard payment. The departments are responsible for all receipts and paperwork regarding the transactions and are subject to periodic audits.

See the P-Card Policy at http://www.njcu.edu/dept/controller/index.html#purchasing for further details. Procurement Services has been issued PCards for approved purchases as needed with different limits.

Miscellaneous Reimbursements

Miscellaneous reimbursements typically occur when it is necessary to reimburse for approved departmental expenses when a purchase order, e-commerce vendor or a departmental credit card could not be used. These types of reimbursements follow the guidelines of Travel Reimbursements and Special Handling Requisitions.

Travel Reimbursements

Reimbursements for all related travel expenses such as:

- 1. Registration fees, conference fees, and membership dues;
- 2. Business meals outside of the office; and
- **3.** Out-of-town travel expenses.

See the Travel Reimbursement Policy at http://www.njcu.edu/dept/controller/Accounts Payable.html#travel.

Special Handling Requisitions

Allowable items to be submitted through Special Handling in PeopleSoft form consist of the following:

- 1. Honoraria for speakers
- 2. Payments to individuals for participation in music, dance, theatre production, off duty police, etc. Payments to employees must be directed to Human Resources for processing;
- 3. Conferences (if NJCU Purchasing Card is not available);
- 4. Registration Fees (if NJCU Purchasing Card is not available);
- 5. Membership Fees (if NJCU Purchasing Card is not available); and
- 6. Permits.

All purchases through Special Handling in PeopleSoft need to be completed via a purchase requisition prior to any commitment made to the vendor. If the respective purchase satisfies any of the above categories, please submit a Special Handling requisition through PeopleSoft:

- 1. Special Handling forms are required to be completed in their entirety.
- 2. All expenses must be supported by detailed or itemized receipts.

- 3. Original invoices must be obtained, vendor "statements" are not proper documentation.
- **4.** Business purpose must be documented on the Special Handling [please attach evidence supporting the business purpose (eg. meeting agenda)]
- **5.** All approvals follow the standard approval workflow in PeopleSoft.
- **6.** NJ State regulations <u>prohibit</u> reimbursement of alcohol related expenses, flowers (sentiment and/or condolence intended), contributions, gifts, tickets for events, and meals (not incurred during a business related occasion).

Purchase Order Cancellation and Change Order Requests

Any request to modify or cancel an order should be directed to the Purchasing Department in writing via email or interoffice with the vendor name, purchase order number and the reason for the cancellation or change. The Purchasing Department will then act in the best interest of NJCU and advises all parties accordingly. Pleas note that a purchase order is a binding contract between NJCU and the vendor and therefore it cannot be modified or cancelled unilaterally.

Pre-Payments

The general rule for payment of requisitioned goods and services is to pay after the receipt of the item(s) or service(s). In some situations where a pre-payment may be required, attach documentation from the vendor to a purchase or special handling requisition, as applicable, with justification and forward accordingly. It is the end users responsibility to be aware of duplicate requests for payment. The Purchasing and Accounts Payable Department are available for assistance in researching requests.

Merchandise Returns and Repairs

Merchandise to be returned or repaired to a vendor for adjustment or credit should be cleared through the Purchasing Department. The Purchasing Department will work with the requisitioning department and the vendor to make arrangements for the return. In some cases, if the vendor is not at fault for sending the incorrect merchandise, they may charge a restocking fee.

Unauthorized Purchases

The Purchasing Department has the authority to obligate NJCU for the purchase of goods and services. Any purchases made outside this policy will become the sole liability of the individual making the purchases.

Copiers (Multi-Function Devices)

NJCU's fleet copiers are currently under warranty and maintenance agreement with Stewart Industries. All toner and parts are included, except for staples which must go through the purchase order process. You should contact Stewart Industries in case of any copier repairs and toner needs. (For service call 800-583-4996, for supplies call 800-322-5584)

Items Ordered on a "Preview" or "Trial Basis"

An internal purchase requisition must be completed and sent to Purchasing for all items that are ordered on a "trial basis" or are ordered for "review". Please indicate in comments that the item is a demo. At the end of the "trial period" it is the user department's responsibility to notify Purchasing of the decision to keep or return the items. It is customary for vendors to bill for the merchandise automatically after the trial period; therefore timely notification is required.

Bid Procedures

NJCU Purchasing department will determine when competitive bids for goods and services are required in accordance with New Jersey State College Contract Law.

All purchases, exceeding \$2,500 but less than \$30,700 will be awarded using the competitive bidding procedures. We need to obtain at least three competitive bids (quotes) as dictated by the dollar amount. Please contact the Purchasing Department for assistance.

Purchases over \$30,700 (effective July 1, 2011)

The Purchasing Department may solicit bids and place orders for goods and services based upon the requirements of University departments. A supplier cannot be used by NJCU once the threshold amount of \$30,700 is reached. The bid threshold is cumulative for each supplier during each fiscal year.

The exceptions to bidding thresholds are as follows:

- 1. The NJCU Board of Trustees enacts a resolution at a public meeting under the "waiver" guidelines of the New Jersey State College Contract Law.
- 2. When an emergency affecting the health, safety or welfare of University occupants or property requires the immediate delivery of materials or supplies or the performance of work, please contact the Purchasing Department at 201-200-3159.
- 3. The State of New Jersey Purchase Bureau establishes contracts for goods and services for qualified suppliers. The list of state contract suppliers can also be accessed via the internet at www.state.nj.us/treasury/purchase or in NJCU Purchasing Department. You must make sure that the goods and/or services supplied under state contract are the exact good and/or services required.
- 4. The same vendor can be used on a "project basis" providing that each separate project is distinct and falls below the prevailing State threshold. The work and/or services can not be in connection with the same project or furnishings of similar materials or supplies during the same fiscal year. The Purchasing Department will review and approve accordingly.
- 5. The use of the Federal Supply Schedules of the General Services Administration as in federal and government contracted vendors. Information pertaining to this material is available in the Purchasing Department.

Procedures for Publicly Advertised Bids

- 1. A formal request (Request to Bid, Form PUR-001 available in the Purchasing Department) from a user department must be approved by the Department Chair, Dean and Vice President and submitted to the Purchasing Department in order to initiate the bid process.
- 2. The basis of all bidding is the development of specifications and plans, as it becomes the standard by which bidders determine their prices and response. The Purchasing Department issues bid specifications and plans which permit fair and equitable bids/proposals from qualified suppliers.
- 3. When any request for a bid is prepared, there are certain drafting prohibitions such as:
 - **a.** No specifications may require a standard, restriction, condition or limitation not directly related to the purpose, function, or activity for which the purchase, contract or agreement is made;

- **b.** No specifications may require the use of any "brand name" unless the phrase "or approved equal" is inserted in the specifications. This shall allow vendors to bid on substitute or equivalent goods and services which may be just as good as originally specified and may cost less.
 - If alternates are not acceptable, the user department must give written justification for each alternate rejected. If requested, the written justification is retained in the bid file and shall be open to the public for review.
- **4.** Once the specifications have been determined, formal bids can then be prepared and sent to vendors.
- 5. Bids in excess of \$30,700, must be advertised and published in a legal newspaper sufficiently in advance of the date fixed for receiving the bids to promote competitive bidding, but in no event less than 10 days prior to the bid opening. The invitation for bids sets forth the basic requirements of the bid.
 - **a.** The title of the bid and the bid number:
 - **b.** The location that the bid will be received:
 - c. The time and date of the bid opening; and
 - **d.** The requirement for the bid to be sealed.
- **6.** Bids are received in the Purchasing Department on the date and time specified and thereafter is unsealed and the contents publicly announced in the presence of any parties bidding or their agents who are present. A proper record of the prices and terms are made. No bids shall be received after the time designated in the advertisement.
- 7. NJCU shall award the contract or reject all bids within such time as may be specified in the specifications or other documents issued to all bidders, but in no case more than 60 days, except the bids of any bidders who consent to a change either before or after the 60 day period as agreed.
- **8.** After the bid opening, the bid tabulation data is prepared by the Purchasing Department and forwarded to the requisitioner with copies of the bids. The Purchasing Department has a decision matrix available in the event that the bid specifications were not based solely on the lowest bid but based upon the most responsive and responsible bidder meeting all of the specifications and requirements including price.
- 9. The user department must either give a written decision to the Purchasing Department to accept or reject the lowest bid (if the lowest bid is the sole criteria) or a written decision to accept a bid/proposal based upon critical elements in the specifications and documents which comprise the bid
- 10. The Purchasing Department shall review the decisions to determine if the user department is justified or if any additional information should be required. In the event of disagreement concerning the selection of a vendor, the final decision shall be made by the Vice President for Administration and Finance.
- 11. The Purchasing Department will send a letter(s) to the vendor(s) indicating that the bid was not accepted and will issue an award letter to the winning bidder. Providing the vendor(s) do not protest within a reasonable period of time, (approximately one week), a purchase order is then released. In cases where a vendor protests, then the Purchasing Department will need to escalate the situation accordingly. When the Director of Purchasing does not accept the justification for the rejection of a bid, the requisitioner will be advised if an agreement is reached or the transaction will be terminated.

Signature Authority

Individuals are identified in each of the departments with the authority to initiate requests for purchases of goods and services. The following dictates the total commitment/expenditure that each individual at the various levels at NJCU is authorized to approve. These are the minimum guidelines that NJCU must follow in order to purchase goods and services. Higher approval levels can be obtained as dictated by individual departmental policies.

Operating Expenses

1. Purchase Requisitions Chair, Director and/or Designee approval up to \$500.

Director, Dean and/or Designee approval over \$500. Vice President and/or Desginee approval over \$1,000.

2. Transfer of Budget to Another Department Vice President of respective department and the

Vice President of Administration and Finance

Office Supplies (OfficeMax) On-Line Purchases

All office supplies purchases are processed in PeopleSoft through Direct Connect. The standard approval process applies and is routed through workflow.

Purchasing Card Purchases

Individual transaction limit of \$500 except Deans/Director and Associate Vice Presidents limit of \$1,000 and Vice Presidents limit of \$1,000. Total monthly limit varies based on need. See Purchasing Card Policy at http://www.njcu.edu/dept/controller/documents/pcard_documents/pcard_policy.pdf.

Travel Requests

Overnight Travel President
Local Travel Dean/Director

Special Handling Requests Same as Operating Expense

Capital Expenditures

Facilities Management¹

In budget Same as Operating Expense

Information Technology²

In budget Same as Operating Expense

Environmental Safety³ Same as Operating Expense

¹ In addition all purchases must be reviewed by the Associate Vice President of Facilities and Construction Management.

² In addition all purchases must be reviewed by the Director of Information Technology.

³ All hazardous chemicals purchases must be reviewed by the Director of Environmental Safety

Projects Same as Operating Expense with Project

Manager's approval

Grants Same as Operating Expense operating with

Grant Manager's approval

Contracts and Agreements

Contracts and/or agreements with outside vendors or entities for goods or services may only be executed by the following individuals on behalf of the University:

Carlos Hernandez, President
Aaron Aska, Vice President of Administration and Finance
Joanne Bruno, Vice President of Academic Affairs
Khatmeh Osseiran-Hanna, Vice President of University Advancement
John Melendez, Vice President of Student Affairs
Edie DelVecchio, Director of Procurement Services

Check Signing (Controllers Office) - All checks over \$10,000 must have two signatures. The Authorized signers are the Vice President Administration and Finance, the Associate Vice President for Finance and Controller. In the absence of the above individuals, one of the other Vice President's or President may sign.

Independent Contractors – See Exhibit A

Professional & Consulting Services

Professional and Consulting Services consist of personal services of any person or organization that is not an employee of NJCU. Professional Services require an Independent Contractor Contract (See Exhibit B) and follow the same guidelines for purchasing. A Purchase Requisition and W-9 form must accompany each Independent Contractor Contract submitted.

Supplier Diversity

NJCU is committed to the principle of diversity and equal opportunity in all of its endeavors and applies this principle in its procurement activity with the objective of encouraging participation by qualified vendors categorized as small, disadvantaged, minority or women-owned enterprises. NJCU believes that strengthening and expanding its vendor base in these business classifications not only may contribute to lowering our operational costs in providing education, research and patient care, but also contributes to the overall health of the greater business community within which we exist. It is a practice of NJCU to actively solicit and identify qualified small, disadvantaged, minority or womenowned businesses and to provide and promote equal opportunities for such vendors within NJCU structure in order to promote vendor diversity.

Ethical Conduct

Ethical business standards shall govern all procurement transactions. Infractions of University procurement policy are to be reported to the Director of Purchasing Services, the department supervisor and/or the Associate Vice President for Finance and Controller.

University personnel shall not solicit any gift or accept any gift from any supplier or prospective supplier. A 'gift' is defined as any item, service, favor, monies, credits, or discounts not available to others and/or which could influence purchasing decisions. University personnel may accept trivial items, such as pens, notepads and promotional items, as a matter of courtesy, but may not solicit them.

NJCU values its suppliers and assumes that vendors, in turn, value NJCU's business. No token or display of this appreciation is necessary or encouraged. All vendors are asked to comply with NJCU's standards by not offering incentives, gifts, or services to individual personnel.

NJCU asks for and offers confidentiality from/to its suppliers. All quotations, proposals, suggestions, and proprietary information are to be held in the strictest confidence. Proprietary information exchanged during transactions shall be identified and treatment of that information clearly agreed upon by both NJCU and the supplier.

Accounts Payable

Accounts Payable is responsible for all vendor payments including employee travel and expense reimbursements. All invoices must be sent directly to Accounts Payable. If a department receives invoices, they must forward them immediately to the Accounts Payable Department for processing.

Checks are processed weekly on the last day of the week and are issued in accordance with the vendor terms and due dates. Our standard vendor terms are NET 30, which means the vendors' invoice will be processed for payment in 30 days from the invoice date, unless otherwise negotiated. Please allow 7 to 10 business days for processing providing all the paperwork is complete and accurate. All vendor checks will be mailed.

Purchasing Glossary of Terms

- 1. Back Order The portion of an order which the vendor cannot deliver on schedule and which has been re-entered for shipment when available.
- 2. Best Interest of NJCU This purchase is made so as to be advantageous to New Jersey University.
- 3. Blanket Order An order wherein only the total amount of money to be spent and time frame in which orders may be placed is known within a defined commodity group.
- 4. Conflict of Interest Contracting with any University employee or their relative for services or goods represents a potential conflict of interest. It is important that the appearance of preferential treatment be nonexistent. For that reason, such transactions are discouraged. However, an exception can be made via the competitive bid process. The request for quote must be advertised and sealed bids submitted.
- 5. Contract Any agreement or purchase order for the purchase or disposal of commodities or services.
- 6. Emergency Purchase The immediate purchase of commodities or services caused by a sudden, unexpected turn of events beyond the control of NJCU involving public health, welfare, safety, injury, or loss.
- 7. Independent Contractor See Exhibit A
- 8. Procurement Buying, purchasing, renting, leasing or otherwise acquiring any materials, services or construction. Procurement also includes all functions that pertain to obtaining any material, service or construction, including description of requirements, selection and solicitation of sources, preparation and award of contract and all phases of contract administration.
- 9. Purchase Order A legal document used to formalize a purchase transaction with a vendor.
- 10. Purchase Request or Requisition Document or electronic transmission whereby a department requests the procurement of materials, services or construction.
- 11. Request for Proposal Two-Step Negotiation Solicitation of a Request for Information, review and selection of acceptable proposals and the subsequent solicitation of sealed bids from those contractors submitting technically acceptable proposals.
- 12. Services The furnishing of labor, time or effort by a contractor which does not involve the delivery of a specific end product other than required reports or performance. Services do not include Personal Services Agreements.
- 13. Solicitation An Invitation for Bid, Request for Proposal, a Request for Quotation, Request for Information or any other invitation or request by NJCU which invites a contractor to participate in a procurement process.
- 14. Vendor Any person or company that sells something or charges for a service.

Exhibit A Independent Contractors

Overview

Before a tax-exempt organization, such as New Jersey City University ("NJCU" or the "University") can determine how to treat payments for services rendered, one must first obtain an understanding of the business relationship that exists between NJCU and the person performing the services. The person performing the services may be an independent contractor or an employee, and in determining which one of these the person providing services should be classified as, all information that provides evidence of degree of control and independence must be considered. The improper classification of a person providing services can lead to significant penalties exercised against NJCU. The more stringent of these penalties are exercised when a person is classified as an independent contractor when they should be an employee. NJCU withholds income taxes, withholds and pays social security and Medicare taxes, and pays unemployment tax (if applicable) on wages paid to an employee. Taxes are not withheld or paid on payments to independent contractors. Therefore, if NJCU incorrectly classifies a person as an independent contractor, NJCU can be held liable for employment taxes, plus interest and penalties.

In order to assess whether a person is an independent contractor or employee, behavioral control, financial control, and the actual relationship between the individual and NJCU must be considered. In general, someone who performs services for you is your employee if you can control what will be done and how it will be done. Likewise, the general rule is that an individual is an independent contractor if NJCU, or the organization for which the services are being performed, has the right to control or direct only the result of the work and not the means and methods of accomplishing the result.

Behavioral Control

Facts that show whether NJCU has a right to direct and control. These include:

- 1. **Instructions** an employee is generally told:
 - When, where, and how to work;
 - What tools or equipment to use;
 - What workers to hire or to assist with the work;
 - Where to purchase supplies and services;
 - What work must be performed by a specified individual; and
 - What order or sequence to follow.
- **Training** an employee may be trained to perform services in a particular manner.

If an individual is the decision maker for any of the areas above, such individual should be treated as an independent contractor. All others should be treated as employees of NJCU.

Financial Control

Facts that show whether NJCU has a right to control the business aspects of the worker's job include:

• The extent to which the worker has un-reimbursed expenses

If an individual is reimbursed for expenses, they are usually functioning as an employee. If expenses are not reimbursed to an individual, they are usually an independent contractor.

• The extent of the worker's investment

If an individual is not able to perform their services without the use of NJCU's facilities, equipment, etc. they are to be classified as an employee. If services are able to be performed without the use of NJCU's facilities, etc. the individual satisfies an independent contractor characteristic.

• The extent to which the worker makes services available to the relevant market

If the individual makes their services available to the public through advertising, licensing, etc. they can be classified as an independent contractor.

• How the business pays the worker

If the individual is compensated only upon the satisfactory completion of the services, they can be considered an independent contractor.

• The extent to which the worker can realize a profit or loss

Independent contractors have the ability to make a profit or loss; employees cannot suffer a loss.

Type of Relationship – Facts that show the type of relationship include:

- Written contracts describing the relationship the parties intended to create;
- Whether the worker is provided with employee-type benefits, such as insurance, pension plan, vacation pay, or sick pay; and
- The permanency of the relationship.

If an individual is engaged with the expectation that the relationship will continue indefinitely, rather than for a specific period or project, this is generally considered that the intention was to create an employer employee relationship.

• How integral the services are to the principal activity

If an individual provides services that are a key aspect of your regular business activity or the individual is performing a daily or critical service that is part of the daily operations of NJCU, an employer-employee relationship is created.

Course of Action

In an effort to quantify NJCU's potential exposure relating to such matters, the Controller's Office will be performing an internal assessment to identify those cases in which individuals are potentially being paid as an independent contractor. On a case by case basis, the relationship will be tested to identify if the facts above are satisfied and to what magnitude.

Purchase Orders

A purchase order must be issued simultaneously with the execution of an independent contractor agreement to assure that funds are available.

Results/Conclusion

The Associate Vice President for Finance and Controller, working in collaboration with the Director for Human Resources, will make the final determination as to whether an individual should be classified as an employee or an independent contractor. This determination will be made in accordance with the applicable Internal Revenue Code. Whether erroneous or intentional, misclassification of workers may subject NJCU to penalties for failure to file required tax returns, failure to pay taxes due and failure to

yee.		

Exhibit B Independent Contract Contract

(he	reinafter "NJCU"), a body corporate and politic under the laws of the State of New Jersey whose principal dress is 2039 Kennedy Boulevard, Jersey City, New Jersey 07305, hereinafter referred to as "NJCU" and
Co	(hereinafter referred to as "Independent ntractor") whose address is
Wh Exl is i	hereas NJCU desires to obtain services from the Independent Contractor** as more particularly described in hibit A or a related purchase order (hereinafter referred to as the "services") and the Independent Contractor in the business of providing such services and has agreed to provide them on the terms and conditions set the in this Contract.
No	w, therefore, NJCU and the Independent Contractor hereby agree as follows:
1.	Scope of Work - The Independent Contractor agrees to perform the services described in Exhibit A or NJCU's purchase order to which this Contract relates.
2.	Place of Work - The Independent Contractor agrees to perform the services at the location specified in Exhibit A or in the purchase order or at such other place as may be designated by NJCU.
3.	Time Devoted to Work - In the performance of the services, the amount of time devoted by the Independent Contractor will be entirely within the Independent Contractor's control, to the extent consistent with the nature of the services, and NJCU will rely on the Independent Contractor to put in such number of hours as are necessary to fulfill the requirements of this Contract.
4.	Payment - NJCU will pay the Independent Contractor the fee stated in Exhibit A or in the purchase order related to this Contract.
5.	Term - The term of this Contract commences on the date it is executed by the last to sign and shall continue through
6.	Status of the Independent Contractor – NJCU and the Independent Contractor intend that the relationship established between them pursuant to this Contract shall be that of client and independent contractor. No agent, employee, or servant of the Independent Contractor shall be or shall be deemed to be an employee, agent or servant of NJCU. NJCU is interested only in the results obtained under this Contract consistent with paragraph seven below. The manner and means of conducting the work are under the sole control of the Independent Contractor. None of the employee benefits provided by NJCU to its employees, including, but not limited to, workers' compensation insurance, disability insurance and unemployment insurance, is available from NJCU to the Independent Contractor or to the employees, agents or servants of

7. NJCU's Right to Inspect - In the performance of the services, the Independent Contractor has the authority to control and direct the performance of the details of the work; NJCU is interested only in the results obtained. However, the work contemplated herein must meet NJCU's standards and approval and shall be

the Independent Contractor. The Independent Contractor will be solely and entirely responsible for his acts and for the acts of his agents, employees, servants and subcontractors during the performance of this

Contract.

subject to NJCU's general right of inspection and supervision to secure the satisfactory completion thereof. The Independent Contractor agrees to comply with all federal, state and local laws, rules and regulations that are now or hereafter applicable to the Independent Contractor. NJCU will designate a representative who shall be authorized to act for NJCU in all matters related to the Independent Contractor's performance of the services.

8. State Law Requiring Mandatory Compliance by all Vendors

CORPORATE AUTHORITY – It is required that all corporations be authorized to do business in the State of New Jersey. Corporations Incorporated out the State must file a Certificate of Authority with the Secretary of State, Department of State, State House, Trenton, New Jersey. Refer to N.J.S.A. Title 14A Chapter 13-3.

ANTI–DISCRIMINATION – All parties to any contract with the NJCU agree not to discriminate in employment and agree to abide by all anti-discrimination laws including those contained within N.J.S.A. 10:2-1 through 10:2-4, N.J.S.A. 10:5-31 through 10:5-38, and all rules and regulations issued there under.

AFFIRMATIVE ACTION – All parties to any contract with NJCU must comply with P.L 19/5, C. 127.

OWNERSHIP DISCLOSURE – Contracts for any work, goods or services cannot be issued to any firm unless the firm has disclosed the names and addresses of all its owners holding 10% or more of the firm's stock or interest. Refer to N.J.R.L. 1977, Chapter 33.

BUSINESS REGISTRATION CERTIFICATE - All New Jersey and out of State business organizations must obtain a Business Registration Certificate (BRC) from the Department of the Treasury, Division of Revenue, prior to conducting business with the State of New Jersey and proof of valid business registration must be submitted.

COMPLIANCE STATE LAWS – It is agreed and understood that any contracts shall be governed and construed and the rights and obligations of the parties hereto shall be determined in accordance with the laws of the STATE OF NEW JERSEY up to and including Executive Order 134 regarding political contributions.

COMPLIANCE LAWS – The vendor must comply with all local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations applicable to this contract and to the work to be done hereunder.

- **9. Liability Copyright** The Contractor shall hold and save NJCU, its officers, agents, students, servants and employees, harmless from liability of any nature of kind for or on account of the use of any copyrighted or un-copyrighted composition, secret process, patented or unpatented invention, article or appliance furnished or used in the performance of his contract.
- 10. Indemnification The Independent Contractor shall assume all risk of and responsibility for, and agrees to indemnify, defend, and save harmless the NJCU, its officers, agents, students, servants and employees from and against any and all claims, demands, suits, actions, recoveries, judgment and costs and expenses in connection therewith on account of the loss of life, property or injury or damage to the person, body or property of any person or persons whatsoever, which shall arise from or result directly or indirectly from the work and/or materials supplied under this contract. This indemnification obligation is not limited by, but is in addition to the insurance obligations contained in this agreement. This obligation shall survive the termination, completion or expiration of this Contract. Independent Contractor agrees to promptly notify NJCU of any claim or action brought in connection with this Contract and thereupon shall promptly take over and defend any such claim or action.

- **11. Insurance** The Independent Contractor shall secure and maintain in force for the term of the contract liability insurance as provided herein. NJCU shall be named as an additional insured on all policies.
 - **a.** Comprehensive General Liability policy as broad as the standard coverage from currently in use in the State of New Jersey which shall not be circumscribed by any endorsements limiting the breadth of coverage. The policy shall include an endorsement (broad form) for contractual liability and products liability (completed operations). Limits of liability shall not be less than \$1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury liability and \$1,000,000 per occurrence for property damage liability.
 - **b.** Comprehensive General Automobile Liability policy covering owned, non-owned, and hired vehicles with minimum limits of \$1,000,000 combined single limits.
 - **c.** Worker's Compensation insurance applicable to laws of the State of New Jersey and Employer's liability insurance with a limit of not less than \$1,000,000.
 - Additionally, if applicable:
 - **d.** Professional Liability Minimum limits of \$1,000,000. Coverage shall be maintained for at least four years subsequent to the termination date of this contract; during such four-year period, supplier shall assure that there is no change to the retroactive date of coverage.

These coverages and limits are to be considered minimum requirements under this contract and in no way limit the liability of the Independent Contractor.

This insurance shall be written by a company licensed to do business in the State of New Jersey with a minimum A.M. Best rating of A- VII. Each policy shall provide for notification to NJCU thirty (30) days prior to termination, material change or restrictive amendments. The insurance companies issuing the policies shall have no recourse against NJCU for payment of any premiums or for any assessments under any form or policy. NJCU reserves the right to request copies of insurance policies.

The insurance policies referred to above shall be primary insurance ahead of any insurance carried by NJCU with respect to the Contract. Independent Contractor shall furnish written consent of the insurer to the primacy of these policies if requested by NJCU.

Independent Contractor shall provide a certificate of insurance to NJCU evidencing this coverage prior to performance of the Contract and annually thereafter, at policy renewal dates throughout the period services/goods are provided by the Independent Contractor. The insurance shall not be cancelled for any reason except after thirty days written notice to the NJCU, Purchasing Office. This certificate of insurance should also note any self-insured retention/deductible amounts for each policy.

12. Assignments of Rights - The parties recognize that it is possible the Independent Contractor may create "work product", i.e., suggestions, inventions, discoveries, and improvements, whether patentable or unpatentable, and software or other materials subject to copyright, created or conceived in the course of performing the services hereunder, as a result of that work, or as a result of receiving proprietary information from NJCU. The Independent Contractor agrees to and does hereby assign to NJCU, without additional remuneration, all right, title and interest in and to such work product conceived or first—reduced to written form or to practice either: (i) in the course, or as a result, of the work performed during the term of this Contract, or (ii) during the twelve months immediately following termination or expiration of this Contract providing they are, in any substantial way, based upon or created as a result of the work performed during the term of this Contract. The Independent Contractor agrees to promptly disclose to NJCU all such

work product. The rights assigned to NJCU shall include, but not be limited to, all intellectual property rights, and the right to prosecute infringement of those rights.

- 13. Confidentiality If in the course of the Independent Contractor's services hereunder, the Independent Contractor receives proprietary information of NJCU relating to NJCU's business, operations, equipment, or products, the Independent Contractor will retain all such information in confidence and will not disclose it, except to its own and NJCU's employees in the necessary course of the performance of the Independent Contractor's services hereunder. However, nothing herein will prevent disclosures by the Independent Contractor of any information after it is available to the general public in a printed publication, or of any information that was already available to the Independent Contractor from written documents in the Independent Contractor's possession at the time such information was acquired from NJCU, or of any information furnished to the Independent Contractor by a third party. The Independent Contractor shall protect the confidential information against unauthorized disclosure using the same degree of care, but no less than a reasonable degree of care, as the Independent Contractor uses to protect its own confidential information of a like nature. The Independent Contractor will ensure that each employee or subcontractor agrees to similar confidentiality requirements.
- **14. General** This Contract shall be interpreted in accordance with the law of the State of New Jersey. This Contract constitutes the entire contracted the parties with respect to the matters addressed herein and no modifications of the Contract shall be enforceable unless in writing signed by both NJCU and the Independent Contractor.

	_		
Vice President, Dean, Department Head or Director	Date		
Associate Vice President for Finance and Controller	_	Date	
Purchasing Representative	_	Date	
INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR			
Independent Contractor	Date		

Date

NEW JERSEY CITY UNIVERSITY

Soc. Sec. No. or Federal Tax ID No

Exhibit C Gourmet Dining Food Service Process

- 1. Departments will enter an order online through eCater.
- 2. Once the order is fully approved Gourmet Dining will process the catering order.
- **3.** NJCU has provided Gourmet Dining an accurate list of all department names and numbers of who is authorized to charge to a particular account.

On a monthly basis:

- 1. Gourmet Dining submits an itemized spreadsheet to the Director of Auxiliary Services.
- **2.** Auxiliary services reviews report for accuracy.
- 3. Director of Auxiliary Services submits the spreadsheet to Procurement Services for payment.

Exhibit D Barnes & Noble Bookstore Process

- 1. When Departments make a purchase at bookstore and charges it to that department.
- 2. The Bookstore creates an invoice and requires departments to complete the *Barnes and Noble Budget Charge Form with the department name and appropriate signature.
- 3. Barnes and Noble will then attach Justification Form to the actual invoice.

On a monthly basis:

- 1. Barnes & Noble submits an itemized spreadsheet along with the appropriate invoices and justification forms to the Director of Auxiliary Services.
- 2. Auxiliary services reviews report for accuracy.
- **3.** Director of Auxiliary Services submits spreadsheet along with invoices to Procurement Services for payment.

Exhibit E Barnes & Noble Budget Charge Form

Department:				
Contact Person:		Phone No		
Description of Purchase:				
Date(s) of Purchase:				
Γotal: \$				
Account to be charged:				
Please check one:				
Books (For Instructional Use) Or	50113	Fund and department number	Project # if applicable	
Office Supplies	50403	Fund and department number	Project # if applicable	
Authorized Signature(s)		Title		
Authorized Signature(s) (e.g., Vice Pres., Dean, Chair, Project/Gran	t Manager)	11110	Date	

*Please Note - Orders over \$1,000 require Vice President's signature